T OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SCO3-382 LOWER TRIBUNAL F89-14998RK. SUPREME COURT RV SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

047

RONNIE JOHNSON,

Appellant,

-vs-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF APPELLANT RONNIE JOHNSON

CHARLES G. WHITE, ESQ. Counsel for Appellant 1031 Ives Dairy Road Suite 228 Miami, Florida 33179 Tel: (305) 914-0160 Fax: (305) 914-0166 Florida Bar No. 334170

fle and. bif filed 10+503

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DETERMIN-ING THAT JOHNSON'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT DEFICIENT, AND JOHNSON WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING PENALTY PHASE AND SENTENCING.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING JOHNSON AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING TO CHALLENGE THE IMPROPER DELEGATION OF REPRESENTATION OF COURT-APPOINTED COUNSEL FOR TRIAL TO AN UNQUALIFIED ATTORNEY.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING TO DETERMINE IF TRIAL COUNSEL HAD EFFECTIVELY WAIVED VOIR DIRE ON DEATH QUALIFICATION.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON COUNSEL'S INEFFECT-TIVENESS IN FAILING TO REHABILITATE JUROR WILLIAMS.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANT-ING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THE ISSUE OF TRIAL COUNSEL'S CONSTITUTIONALLY INADEQUATE INVESTIGATION INTO THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING HIS DETENTION BY THE POLICE THAT LED TO HIS TAPED CONFESSION.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN APPLYING <u>BRAM V. UNITED STATE</u>, 168 U.S. 532 (1897) TO HIS MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHEN HE MADE NO EFFORT TO IMPEACH THE CREDIBILITY OF TREMAINE TIFT.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON WHETHER BADINI SHOULD HAVE REQUESTED A CONTINUANCE WHEN HE WAS NOT PREPARED TO PROCEED WITH THE PENALTY PHASE.

ISSUE IX

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON TRIAL COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVENESS FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE AGGRAVATING FACTORS OF COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED (CCP) ON THE GROUNDS OF CONSTITUTIONAL VAGUENESS, AND THAT JOHNSON WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION WHEN THE JURY WAS GIVEN INSUFFICIENT GUIDANCE TO DETERMINE WHETHER TO APPLY THE AGGRAVATOR.

ISSUE X

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON WHETHER THE STATE SUPPRESSED THE IDENTIFIES OF WITNESSES WHO COULD HAVE TESTIFIED TO THE CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH JOHNSON WAS TAKEN INTO CUSTODY.

ISSUE XI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE HOLDING OF MILLER V. STATE, 733 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1998), WOULD NOT BE RETROACTIVELY APPLIED TO THIS CASE.

ISSUE XII

.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS UNCONSTI-TUTIONALLY AND INACCURATELY DILUTED THE JURY'S SENSE OF RESPONSIBILITY TOWARDS SENTENCING IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION **AND** TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT PROPERLY OBJECTING.

ISSUE XIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMIN-ING THAT THERE WAS NO PREJUDICE IN THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS CONCERNING NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

ISSUE XIV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETER MINING THAT FLORIDA'S PENALTY-PHASE PROCEDURE DID NOT VIOLATE <u>APPRENDI v.</u> <u>NEW JERSEY</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000).

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from Circuit Court Judge Ronald Dresnick's Order Denying JOHNSON's Motion to Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct Illegal Sentence Pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure challenging the death sentence imposed following his conviction for firstdegree murder and armed burglary.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

For ineffective assistance of counsel claims raised in post-conviction proceedings, the appellate court affords deference to findings of fact based on competent, substantial evidence and independently reviews deficiency and prejudice as mixed questions of law and fact. Stevens <u>v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 1028, 1033-4 (Fla. 2000).

To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. McLin v. State, 827 So.2d 948, 954 (Fla. 2002). Pursuant to Rule 3.851(f)(5)(A)(i) of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, this Court has provided that evidentiary hearings "shall" be held in capital cases on initial post-conviction motions filed after October 1, 2001, on any claim requiring a factual determination. Although not directly applicable, this Court has noted the problems caused by the failure of

circuit courts to conduct such hearings. Finney v. State, 831 So.2d 651, 656 (Fla. 2002).

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Miami-Dade County, Florida, entered the judgments and convictions and sentences under consideration. The Honorable Gerald Hubbart, Circuit Court Judge, presided over JOHNSON's trial and sentenced him to death.

JOHNSON was indicted for the first-degree murder of Tequila Larkins a/k/a "Sugar Moma", in violation of Florida Statute Section 782.04 (Count I), and burglary of an occupied structure with an assault therein, in violation of Florida Statute Section 810.02(2)(a)(b) (Count II). As to Count I, the State charged JOHNSON upon both theories of premeditation and felony-murder.

Arthur Huttoe was appointed by the Court as a Special Assistant Public Defender. He inexplicably referred the case to Raymond Badini improperly, as will be discussed below. Badini with the assistance of Joy Carr represented JOHNSON throughout the trial.

On November 4, 1991, a jury trial commenced. On November 7, 1991, JOHNSON was found guilty of both counts.

The penalty phase commenced on November 13, 1991. The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 9-3.

On December 13, 1991, the Circuit Court entered its

Sentencing Order. As to Count I, JOHNSON was sentenced to death. As to Count II, JOHNSON was sentenced to life imprisonment.

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed JOHNSON's convictions and sentences after consolidating the appeal with the death sentence he received in Case No. F89-12383B. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 696 So.2d 326 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 522 U.S. 1095 (1998).John Lipinski, Esq., was appointed to handle the appeal.

The Motion to Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct Illegal Sentence was timely filed on February 1, 2001. It was later amended. Following a hearing pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993), an evidentiary hearing was ordered limited to trial counsel's failure to have conducted a reasonable investigation for mitigating evidence involving JOHNSON's psychological profile. All other issues were summarily denied. The evidentiary hearing was held October 4, 2002. Written Memoranda were filed post-hearing by both parties.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of the case were set forth by this Court in its Opinion on JOHNSON's direct appeal, and are as follows:

The record reflects the following. Tequila 'Sugar Momma' Larkins was the owner of the Sparkle City Laundromat in Perrine, Florida. She had owned the facility for at least three years prior to her murder. On March 11, 1989, Larkins locked the

PAGE(S) MISSING

transported Johnson after he agreed to go. Hull testified that Johnson was not handcuffed when he was transported. Detective Gregory Smith also testified that Johnson was not handcuffed when he was transported to the Team Police Office. At that point, Johnson signed a Metropolitan Dade County Police Department Miranda warning form. Detective Thomas Romagni testified that he witnessed Johnson sign this form. Romagni stated that Johnson was not handcuffed when the Miranda form was read to him. Detective Danny Borrego then testified that, prior to the signing of the Miranda form, he ascertained that Johnson understood the English language, could read, and was not under the influence of drugs or narcotics. In sum, all four officers expressly testified that they neither threatened Johnson nor promised him anything. On the other hand, Johnson testified that he was handcuffed while being taken to headquarters. He also said that he was told he could avoid the electric chair by cooperating. Johnson stated that he was punched in the chest and arms by investigators during the questioning. Johnson testified that he asked to speak with his family. He says that he was told he could do so only after 'what they were doing was over with.' Further, he testified that he was scared for his family when he signed the sworn statement.

The motion to suppress was denied. The confession revealed the following. After signing the <u>Miranda</u> form at 7:30 p.m., Johnson gave the sworn statement at 1:43 a.m. on April 2, 1989. The

statement concluded at 3:45 a.m. on the same day. Daylight savings time added one extra hour to the length of the statement. Therefore, the one hour statement appears to be two hours long.

The sworn statement indicates that Johnson was approached by an individual named 'G' and asked to shoot somebody. Johnson stated that he went to G's house prior to the murder. At that point, G gave Johnson a gun. Johnson then went to the laundromat with G and another 'stake out' person. After barging into the laundromat, Johnson recalls that he 'got nervous' and 'the gun went off.' Then he 'just got confused' and tried 'to shoot my way out of there.' Johnson stated that G paid him 'about \$300 or \$400' for the murder. Finally, Johnson agreed that he was not threatened or coerced to give the statement and that the statement was free and voluntary.

Additionally, Termain Tift testified that Johnson told him about shooting Sugar Momma at a washhouse. Tift also said that Johnson admitted getting paid for the murder. Other testimony was offered that no money was taken from the laundromat.

After trial, the jury convicted Johnson of firstdegree murder. The jury then recommended the death penalty by a margin of nine to three. On December 13, 1991, the trial judge sentenced Johnson to death. The trial judge found the following five statutory aggravators: (1) the defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving these of violence to the person; (2) the defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons; (3) the murder was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of a burglary; (4) the murder was committed for pecuniary gain; and (5) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. The trial judge expressly considered, and thereafter rejected, the following two statutory mitigators: (1) the murder was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance; and (2) the age of the defendant at the time of the murder. Finally, the trial judge found that the fact that Johnson was a good friend and a caring family man was established by competent evidence. The trial judge treated this as a nonstatutory mitigating factor. He found, however, that this factor was outweighed 'to the point of obliteration by the aggravating circumstances.

Johnson v. State, 696 So.2d at 327-29 (Fla. 1997), cert.

denied, 522 U.S. 1098 (1998).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Trial counsel did not conduct a reasonable investigation into mitigating evidence, including obtaining expert psychological testimony. The decision of trial counsel not to pursue investigation was not reasonable. Psychological evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing demonstrated prejudice. The Court below erred in determining that trial counsel's performance was not deficient, and that Appellant was not prejudiced thereby.

Appellant was indigent, and counsel was appointed. His attorney made an improper referral to a less experienced attorney with whom he split fees. This referral was never approved by the Appellant nor the Court. This referral was <u>per se</u> reversible error. To the extent that it was not per <u>se</u> harmful error, an evidentiary hearing is necessary to establish whether (1) a less qualified attorney represented Appellant at trial, or (2) conflicts related to the feesplitting deprived Appellant of his right to counsel. Prejudice should be presumed, but trial counsel's deficiencies can be demonstrated.

Trial counsel made no effort during voir dire to question jurors to determine if they were biased towards death, and whether they would be able to follow the law concerning the reception of mitigation evidence. Trial counsel thereby functioned as no counsel at all, and

provided deficient representation. An evidentiary hearing is warranted to determine the reason for trial counsel's decision not to participate in a death-qualification process.

This Court when hearing the case on direct appeal determined that Juror Williams was properly excused for cause upon the State's motion. The Court noted that trial counsel made no effort to rehabilitate Juror Williams. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to have attempted to rehabilitate Juror Williams.

The principal evidence against Appellant was a taped confession. The State had originally alleged that Appellant had voluntarily accompanied Officer Hull to the police station. Detective Borrego, who had dispatched Officer Hull for this task, admitted he lacked probable cause to arrest Appellant. Appellant has located three witnesses who could testify to Appellant's arrest by Officer Hull, and detention without probable cause. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to have investigated the facts and circumstances surrounding Appellant's detention. Trial counsel was also ineffective for having failed, during the cross-examination of Detective Borrego, to point out that he had been deceived into waiving his <u>Miranda</u> rights. As part of his Motion to Suppress, trial counsel failed to raise that Appellant was placed under oath before being administered <u>Miranda</u> rights.

a

This was a form of compulsion, which rendered his confession involuntary.

Trial counsel neglected to impeach the credibility of Tremain Tift, who was arguably an accessory after-the-fact for the murder, but who testified as a State witness. His potential liability as an accessory after-the-fact suggested that he had received immunity, which was never brought out. Tift's testimony without impeachment was devastating in both the Guilt and Penalty Phase.

After 31 months, trial counsel appeared for trial having had no psychologists or psychiatrists evaluate the Appellant. He attempted to arrange it at the last minute. In a death-penalty case, trial counsel had an obligation to announce his lack of preparedness and request a continuance. Failure to have done so constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.

Trial counsel failed to object to the jury instruction as to the aggravating factor of Cold Calculated and Premediated (CCP) on the grounds of unconstitutional vagueness when this Court had found it so. The jury was not given sufficient guidance to apply the aggravator.

The State failed to disclose the three eye-witnessees who observed Appellant be detained by Officer Hull. $_{\rm By~so}$ doing, the State failed to fulfill its obligation to disclose exculpatory information. An evidentiary hearing is

necessary to determine whether this discovery violation occurred and involved a material issue.

Subsequent to Appellant's conviction for armed burglary, and with felony-murder, this Court held that the Burglary Statute cannot be applied to persons committing a crime in premises open to the public. This took Appellant's conduct outside the scope of the Burglary Statute. That holding should be applied retroactively to vacate Appellant's conviction as to Count II with the entry of judgment of acquittal, and cause Count I to be remanded for a new trial.

The jury was repeatedly and unconstitutionally instructed by the trial court that its role was merely "advisory". These instructions minimized the responsibility and role juries are intended to play in capital cases.

The trial court did not give any instructions on any non-statutory mitigating circumstances. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to articulate any non-statutory mitigating circumstances for the jury.

Florida's death-penalty process is unconstitutional in that it violates the principle that any factor which increases the maximum possible penalty faced by a criminal defendant is an element of the offense which must be found beyond a reasonable doubt by a jury as an element of the crime.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DETERMIN-ING THAT JOHNSON'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT DEFICIENT, AND JOHNSON WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING PENALTY PHASE AND SENTENCING.

Trial commenced over 31 months after JOHNSON's arrest. During that period of time, Raymond Badini, who was handling JOHNSON's case, did not have a single mental health professional evaluate JOHNSON. During voir dire, Badini brought to Judge Hubbart's attention for the first time the claim that he was having difficulty obtaining forensic psychologists or psychiatrists willing to help him with JOHNSON's case. He alleged that the ones he had contacted were refusing to work on any criminal cases because Miami-Dade County was refusing to pay them. The Court located Dr Lloyd Miller, a forensic psychiatrist, who was willing to meet with JOHNSON (Vol.V-R.864-4). At the evidentiary hearing, Badini reiterated his alleged frustration in not being able to recruit any mental health experts, and claimed to have been finally able to enlist Dr. Miller's assistance for free (Tr, of 10/4/02 at 95-6)

Badini's expressed an inability to obtain a forensic psychologist. Badini attempted to blame Miami-Dade County's refusal to pay for these shortcomings (Tr. of 10/4/02 at 94-5). He testified that after the second <u>Johnson</u> trial and

death sentence, he gave up practicing criminal law because he did not feel that the proper tools were being made available (Tr. of 10/4/02 at 105-6). He summarized his conclusions as follows:

- Q: It is fair to say from your last answer that you wanted to have a full psychological evaluation of Mr. Johnson, but you were prevented to do so because of the financial situation from the County Attorney's Office?
- A: Absolutely. Again, this is why I quit doing this because I knew ten years later this thing would happen and then people spend their money and then people look back, but at that time the County Attorney controlled what happened, and it was a bad time in this courthouse. A lot of judges were afraid of their own shadow at this particular time.

(Tr. of 10/4/02 at 106).

Aside from Badini's self-serving declarations, the frustration he allegedly felt, and the obstacles he claimed had prevented him from fully investigating JOHNSON's mental status, the admittedly deficiency in his representation cannot be attributed to anyone but him. The absence of activity on record where Badini had sought the Court's assistance to obtain a "full psychological evaluation" belies his claims. In essence, Badini began a capital case with no mitigating evidence aside from family members. As will be presented below, those family members possessed a whitewashed impression of JOHNSON because they really did not know him. Badini had not acquired the tools and the evidence he needed in order to know whether presenting a "good guy" defense in mitigation of the death penalty was a wise strategic move.

Badini admitted that he believed a thorough mental health examination was necessary in JOHNSON's case. He testified that his conversatons with JOHNSON caused him to believe him "always an enigma" (Tr. of 10/4/02 at 104-5). Badini said that it was difficult to equate JOHNSON's nature with a person willing to kill for money. He recognized that there was "something more there". Badini recognized that certain events in JOHNSON's life which he learned before trial, particularly the deaths of certain people who were close to him, could act as a "trigger" into the development of psychological evidence in mitigation of the death penalty (Tr. of 10/4/02 at 104). Since he did not have the benefit of mental health evidence, however, he was reduced to telling the jury at closing argument in F89-12383B, the second case, "If I'm good, you are going to let him live. If I'm bad, you are going to let him die." (Tr. of 10/4/02 at 105). This testimony constituted a virtual admission that he was deficient in not having fully pursued an investigation into his JOHNSON's mental health.

The Circuit Court relied heavily on Dr. Miller's alleged psychiatric examination of JOHNSON in denying his 3.850 motion. As the Circuit Court stated:

It is clear from the testimony that the Defendant was evaluated by Dr. Miller prior to the penalty phase. While the testimony differs as to the extent of the evaluation, counsel did have an evaluation performed by a competent doctor and cannot be deemed incompetent for failing to have the Defendant evaluated.

The testimonial conflict as to the extent of the evaluation came from comparing JOHNSON's description of the interview as where he was only questioned about his capacity to understand the charges against him, resembling a competency evaluaton, and Badini's claim that he had asked Dr. Miller to make a more comprehensive evaluation into "mitigation" (Tr. of 10/4/02 at 81-2, 96).

There was insufficient evidence to conclude that Badini's investigation into JOHNSON's mental health in the search for mitigating evidence was reasonable. If not reasonable, then it was deficient.

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