### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-382

RONNIE JOHNSON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,

CRIMINAL DIVISION

### BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5654

##

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

claim as facially insufficient. Ragsdale.

Moreover, consideration of the allegations contained in the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel does not make this claim facially sufficient. With regard to Brown, Defendant asserts that he was on her front porch and gave her his beeper and money before accompanying the police. Given this assertion, it appears that Defendant was fully aware that Brown had witnessed the circumstances of his encounter with the officers. Additionally, there is no assertion that the police knew the identity of Ms. Brown. In fact, Defendant made a point of asserting that Officer Hull was incorrect in his belief that Defendant was on his grandmother's porch. Thus, it would appear that Defendant's knowledge of this alleged witness was superior to the State's knowledge of her. Because Defendant was aware of Ms. Brown and her potential testimony, the State cannot be said to have committed a Brady violation with regard to her. Maharaj, 778 So. 2d at 954. The claim was properly summarily denied.

With regard to Isom, Defendant's allegations in the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel are limited to assertions that other officers chased Isom and placed him in a police car. However, the record reflects that Defendant knew that Isom was arrested at the same time as he was. At the suppression

hearing, Defendant cross examined Det. Borrego about the fact that Defendant and Isom were both at the team police office when Det. Borrego first spoke to Defendant. (T. 91-92) Defendant himself testified that Isom was not in the area when he was approached by Off. Hull but that he and Isom traveled to the team police office in the same car. (T. 121) Because Defendant was aware of Isom and his potential testimony, the State cannot be said to have committed a *Brady* violation with regard to him. Maharaj, 778 So. 2d at 954. The claim was properly summarily denied.

Even if the claim had been sufficiently plead and concerned information about which Defendant was not already aware, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. As argued in Issue V, the police had probable cause to arrest Defendant for the murder of Ms. Larkins at the time he went to the police station. As such, presenting witnesses to testify that Defendant did not voluntarily accompany the officers would not have affected the outcome of the hearing on the motion to suppress, much less create a reasonable probability that Defendant would not have been convicted. Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419 (1995). Thus, the lower court properly denied this claim. It should be affirmed.

Defendant also assails the lower court for finding that a

portion of this claim was procedurally barred. However, such a finding was proper. Defendant asserted a violation of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220 for failing to list Brown, Isom and Faison as witnesses without any assertion that the State was aware of their existence or that the State knew that they possessed any exculpatory or impeaching evidence. Moreover, the record reflects that Defendant was fully aware of at least Brown and Isom. Under these circumstances, it appears that Defendant was simply asserting that the State violated Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220 and not that the State had withheld any exculpatory or impeaching evidence. However, a simple assertion that the State violated Rule 3.220 regarding information about which a defendant was aware is an issue that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. See State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342, 361 n.20 (Fla. 2000). Thus, the lower court properly denied the claim as procedurally barred.

## XI. THE CLAIM REGARDING THE BURGLARY CONVICTION WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant next contends that his convictions for first degree murder and burglary should be vacated. He asserts that because the laudromat was open to the public at the time he entered it, he had an absolute defense to the charge of burglary. He further averred that the use of the burglary to

support the felony murder theory of first degree murder tainted his murder conviction. However, the lower court properly denied this claim as procedurally barred and without merit.

The gravamen of Defendant's claim appears to be that the evidence was insufficient to convict him of burglary because evidence was presented at trial that raised a complete defense to the charge of burglary. However, issues regarding the sufficient of the evidence are issues that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. Burr v. State, 518 So. 2d 903, 905 (Fla. 1987). Issues that could have and should have been raised are procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla.), cert. denied, 501 U.S. 1245 (1991). As such, the lower court properly denied this claim as procedurally barred. The denial should be affirmed.

In attempt to avoid the procedurally barred, Defendant asserts that Miller v. State, 733 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 1999), is a fundamental change of constitutional law that should apply retroactively. However, Miller does not so qualify. In Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), this Court set forth the test to determine whether a change in law would apply retroactively to cases that were final before the change in law was announce. Under this test, a defendant must show that the change: "(a)

emanates from this Court or the United States Supreme Court, (b) is constitutional in nature, and (c) constitutes a development of fundamental significance." *Id.* at 931. To be of fundamental significance, a change must generally fall into one of two categories:

The first are those changes of law which place beyond the authority of the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties. category is exemplified by Coker v. Georgia, 433 U.S. 584, 97 S. Ct. 2861, 53 L. Ed. 2d 982 (1977), which held that the imposition of the death penalty for the crime of rape of an adult woman is forbidden by the eighth amendment as cruel and unusual punishment. second are those changes of law which are magnitude necessitate sufficient to application as ascertained by the three-fold test of Stovall and Linkletter. Gideon v. Wainwright, of course, is the prime example of a law change included within this category.

Id. at 930 (footnotes omitted). The test for determining if a change falls in the second category requires a court to consider three factors: "(a) the purpose to be served by the new rule; (b) the extent of reliance on the old rule; and (c) the effect on the administration of justice of a retroactive application of the new rule." Id. at 926.

While Miller did emanate from this Court, it does not satisfy any of the other Witt criteria. Miller was not constitutional in nature. In Miller, this Court merely interpreted the language of the then existing burglary statute.

This Court did not even mention the United States or Florida Constitution in its analysis. As such, Miller fails the second prong of the Witt test and is not retroactive.

Moreover, Miller also fails the third prong of the Witt Application of this prong assumes that the change is test. constitutional. As noted, supra, Miller is not a constitutional change. Moreover, Miller does not fall into either of the two categories for this prong to apply. While Defendant asserts that Miller satisfies the first category, this is untrue. first category is defined as "those [cases] that place, as a matter of constitutional interpretation, certain kinds of primary, private individual conduct beyond the power of the criminal law-making authority to proscribe." Mackey v. United States, 401 U.S. 667, 692 (1971) (Harlan, J., concurring), quoted in, Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288, 311 (1989). In Miller, this Court did not determine, as a matter of constitutional interpretation, that the legislature, the criminal law-making authority, could not define burglary as committing a crime in a place open to the public. This Court merely determined, as a matter of statutory construction, that it had not done so. See State v. Woodley, 695 So. 2d 297 (Fla. 1997) (holding of Gray that attempted felony murder was abolished as a crime not

retroactive). As such, *Miller* does not fit into the first category of cases that satisfy the third prong of *Witt*.

Miller also does not fall within the second category of cases to meet prong three of the Witt test. Granting retroactive application of Miller would strongly impact the administration of justice. The courts of this state would be required to review stale records to make a factual determination regarding whether the structure or area thereof that was entered was in fact opened to the public. See State v. Glenn, 558 So. 2d 4, 8 (Fla. 1990)(refusing to apply Carawan v. State, 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987), retroactively) As such, Miller fails the third prong of the Witt test.

This Court reached a similar conclusion with regard to the decision in *Delgado v. State*, 776 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 2000). There, this Court interpreted the consent defense at issue here as it applies to objects of a burglary that were not opened to the public. This Court determined that once consent to enter a private dwelling or structure had been given, it could not be revoked, and person could only convicted of a burglary if they remained therein surreptitiously with the intent to commit a crime. However, this Court held that this change in law did not apply retroactively because it failed prongs two and three of

the Witt test. Id. at 241 & n.7; see also Jimenez v. State, 796 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 2001). As Miller involves the construction of the same consent defense when apply to structures that were open to the public, it to should not apply retroactively under Delgado. As Miller is not retroactive, the lower court properly denied this claim. It should be affirmed.

Even if the claim was not procedurally barred and Miller did apply retroactively, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. In Miller, this Court determined that the "unless the premises are at the time open to the public" language in \$810.02(1), Fla. Stat., created an absolute defense to the charge of burglary. In Johnson v. State, 786 So. 2d 1162 (Fla. 2001), this Court determined that whether a premises (or an area thereof) was opened to the public was a factual question.

Here, the evidence showed that the laundromat was not open to the public at the time Defendant entered it. Jerry Briggs testified at trial that he saw Ms. Larkins lock the door to the Sparkle City Laundromat around 9:00 p.m., which was closing time. (T. 607-10) After the laundromat was closed, Defendant knocked on the door and asked for change. (T. 610-11, 620) When Ms. Larkins got her keys and unlocked the door, Defendant forced his way into the laundromat and attacked Ms. Larkins. (T. 611-13)

In his confession, Defendant admitted that the laundromat was locked when he went to shoot Ms. Larkins. (T. 789) He asserted that he lied to Ms. Larkins about needing change to get her to unlock the door and forced his way into the laundromat. (T. 789) Defendant present no evidence to contradict this testimony.

In its closing argument, the State asserted that the laundromat was closed and that Defendant forced his way inside as soon as Ms. Larkins unlocked the door. (T. 904-05) As such, the State argued that there was no consensual entry. (T. 905-06)

As the evidence here was unrebutted that the laundromat has already closed for the night at the time Defendant entered it, Miller does not apply to this case. Thus, the lower court properly denied this claim and should be affirmed.

To the extent that Defendant asserts that Miller and Delgado should apply because Ms. Larkins may have consented to the entry into the closed laundromat, this claim would also be unavailing. Defendant secured that consent under false pretenses. As Mr. Briggs testified, Ms. Larkins unlocked the door when Defendant asked for change. (T. 610-11, 620) Defendant admitted in his confession that he got Ms. Larkins to unlock the door by claiming falsely to need change. (T. 789) Courts of this State

have held that any consent to enter a premises obtained by such artifice is not valid and does not act as a defense to a burglary charge. E.g., Alvarez v. State, 768 So. 2d 1224 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000); Gordon v. State, 745 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); Thomas v. State, 742 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999); Howard v. State, 400 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); Pedone v. State, 341 So. 2d 352 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). As such, Defendant's claim that his burglary conviction is invalid is meritless. It was properly denied, and the denial should be affirmed.

### XII. THE CALDWELL CLAIM WAS PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Defendant next contends that comments to the jury that its role was advisory violated *Caldwell v. Mississippi*, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). He also alleges that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to these comments. However, the lower court properly denied this claim as procedurally barred and without merit.

Claims that comments and instructions improperly informed the jury of its role in sentencing are issues that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. *Griffin v. State*, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S723, S727 (Fla. Sept. 25, 2003); *Oats v. Dugger*, 638 So. 2d 20, 21 & n.1 (Fla. 1994). Issues that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal are barred in

post conviction proceedings. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla.), cert. denied, 501 U.S. 1245 (1991). As such, the lower court properly rejected this claim as procedurally barred.

Even if the claim was not procedurally barred, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief because the claim lacks merit. In Romano v. Oklahoma, 512 U.S. 1, 9 (1994)(quoting Dugger v. Adams, 489 U.S. 401, 407 (1989)), the Court held that "to establish a Caldwell violation, a defendant necessarily must show that the remarks to the jury improperly described the role assigned to the jury under local law." In Combs v. State, 525 So. 2d 853, 855-58 (Fla. 1988), this Court held that informing the jury that their recommendation regarding sentencing is advisory is a correct statement of Florida law. As such, there was no Caldwell violation in this case. Griffin, 28 Fla. L. Weekly at S727. The lower court properly denied this claim as meritless.

Defendant's reliance on Mann v. Dugger, 844 F.2d 1446 (11th Cir. 1988), and Adams v. Wainwright, 804 F.2d 1526 (11th Cir. 1986), is misplaced. Adams was reversed by the United States Supreme Court in Dugger v. Adams, 489 U.S. 401 (1989). Moreover, the Eleventh Circuit recognized that the United States Supreme Court had overruled Mann in Davis v. Singletary, 119

F.3d 1471, 1482 (11th Cir. 1997). As such, neither *Mann* nor *Adams* is good law. Petitioner's reliance on them is misplaced. The claim was properly denied, and the denial should be affirmed.

With regard to the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to this instruction, the claim again was properly denied. Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise a nonmeritorious issue. Kokal, 718 So. 2d at 143; Groover, 656 So. 2d at 425; Hildwin, 654 So. 2d at 111; Breedlove, 595 So. 2d at 11. As argued, supra, any claim that there was a Caldwell violation would have been meritless. As such, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise this issue. The claim was properly denied.

## XIII. THE CLAIM REGARDING THE JURY INSTRUCTION ON NONSTATUTORY MITIGATION WAS PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Defendant next contends that the jury instruction on nonstatutory mitigation was insufficient and that his counsel was ineffective for not objecting to this instruction. However, the lower court properly denied this claim as procedurally barred and without merit.

Claims that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla.), cert.

denied, 501 U.S. 1245 (1991). Issues regarding the propriety of jury instructions on mitigating circumstances are issues that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. See Koon v. Dugger, 619 So. 2d 246, 247-48 (Fla. 1993). As such, Defendant's claim that the jury instruction on nonstatutory mitigation was insufficient is procedurally barred. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

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